IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00660

MICHAEL WHALEN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

GREGORY BISTES, JR. AND GAY BISTES PALMISANO

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT MICHAEL WHALEN

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

D. SCOTT GIBSON
ATTORNEY AT LAW
MS BAR NO
P.O. BOX 208
GULFPORT, MS 39502
(228) 863-0900
scott@dscottgibsonlaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
MICHAEL WHALEN

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00660

MICHAEL WHALEN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

GREGORY BISTES, JR. AND GAY BISTES PALMISANO

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED WHEN ON THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION OF THE DEFENDANT'S HE RULED THAT THERE WAS NO DELIVERY OF THE CONTRACT TO THE BUYER AND THUS NO ENFORCEABLE CONTRACT EXISTED

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This present appeal arises out of the sale and purchase of a parcel of property located in Long Beach, Mississippi, Lot 29-2, located on Klondike Road, under the terms of an Agreement to Purchase and Sell, "Purchase Agreement, or Agreement," between the defendants, Gregory Bistes, Jr. and Gay Bistes Palmisano, as "Sellers" and the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership as "Purchaser." The interests of the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership in the contract were assigned to Michael Whalen, the plaintiff below and the appellant here, in this Court.

The Purchase Agreement was signed by the owners of the property, the Bisteses, on April 25, 2003. The Purchase Agreement was signed by the Purchaser, Bradshaw, on April 30, 2003. Consistent with the Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser, Bradshaw, deposited a \$5,000.00 Promissory Note with the Seller through the Seller's agent on April 30, 2003.

On May 21, 2009 the Purchaser advised the Sellers in writing that it was ready, willing and able to proceed with the closing of the sale as set forth in the Purchase Agreement and set the closing for June 27, 2003. By certified letter dated June 24, 2003 the Sellers through their counsel advised the Purchaser that they did not believe the Purchase Agreement signed by the parties in April 2003 was binding, and that the Sellers were in the process of securing a loan with the property as collateral.

The closing did not take place on June 27, 2003. The Purchaser, Bradshaw, assigned all the rights and obligations of the Purchaser in the Purchase Agreement to Michael Whalen, the plaintiff.

The Plaintiff/Appellant, Michael Whalen, filed a Complaint for Specific Performance and breach of contract against Gregory Bistes, Jr., and Gay Bistes Palmisano. As defendant's

Gregory Bistes, Jr., and Gay Bistes Palmisano filed an Answer denying the essential allegations of the complaint and filed a counterclaim.

On July 14, 2006 the Sellers filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting affidavits. On April 2, 2007 the assignee of the Agreement, Michael Whalen, responded to the Motion for Summary with a supporting affidavit.

Thereafter, on April 16, 2008 the deposition of Michael Whalen was taken by the Bisteses and the depositions of the Bisteses were taken by Michael Whalen.

On January 12, 2009 the Sellers filed their Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting documents. Michael Whalen filed a response and supporting affidavits to the Sellers' Supplemental Motion For Summary Judgment.

In support of their Motion for Summary Judgment the Sellers argued that the Purchase Agreement was not delivered to Gregory Bistes for the Sellers, by May 1, 2003 but was delivered to him on May 10, 2003. Therefore, relying on the affidavits and deposition testimony of the parties, the defendants argued before the trial court that there was no valid contact between the parties. In response, Michael Whalen relied on portions of the deposition of Gregory Bistes, Seller and the deposition of Michael Whalen, along with the affidavit of Michael Whalen.

After a hearing on the Sellers' Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court ruled that delivery of the contract [Purchase Agreement] to Mr. Whalen by the seller was not delivery to the buyers. Therefore there was not an enforceable contract. The Court further ruled that because Mr. Whalen's real estate license was inactive at the time of the transaction, he was not entitled to equitable relief from the Court. A Judgment was entered dismissing the complaint of Michael Whalen. This appeal ensued.

Gregory Bistes and Gayle Bistes Palmisano are the Sellers under the terms of a contract for the purchase and sale of real property that is the subject of this action. They were made defendants in this action. The Purchaser under the terms of the contract at issue was the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership.

Michael Whalen was the agent of both parties to this contract. After agreeing per the terms of the Agreement to sell the property to the Purchaser, the Sellers subsequently refused to sell the property. The Purchaser, Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership, then assigned its rights in the contract to Michael Whalen.(R.21) After the assignment, Michael Whalen as plaintiff filed this action to specifically enforce the contract or alternatively for damages against the Sellers for breach of contract. (R.1).

On April 25, 2003, Michael Whalen approached Gregory Bistes, Jr. one of the owners of a the parcel of land located in Long Beach, Mississippi, at issue, inquiring if he would be interested in selling the parcel to the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership. During this conversation, Michael Whalen presented Gregory Bistes, Jr. with a document entitled "Agreement to Purchase and Sell," the Purchase Agreement at issue. Exhibit A to Defendant's Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment, (R. 80-83.) On the same day, April 25, 2009, Gregory Bistes, Jr., signed that Purchase Agreement for himself individually and for his sister, Gayle Bistes Palmisano, offering to sell the subject parcel to the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership, "Purchaser," under the terms of the Purchase Agreement. Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G. Bistes, Jr., pp. 39, 43-45, 52; (R.194,198-200, 201).

Both parties agree that at the time that the Purchase Agreement, the offer, was made by the Sellers, Michael Whalen was the agent for the Sellers. *Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G.*

Bistes, Jr., p. 68; (R. 204); Excerpts, Deposition of Michael Whalen, pp. 15, 17, 20. (R. 86,88-89).

After the Sellers signed the Purchase Agreement on April 25, 2003, Michael Whalen, delivered it to the Purchaser, Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership. The Purchase Agreement was signed by Tom Bradshaw on behalf of the Purchaser on April 30, 2009. On the same day, in compliance with the Agreement a Promissory Note in the amount of \$5,000.00 made payable to the Sellers was delivered to Michael Whalen, by the Purchasers. Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G. Bistes, Jr., p. 57; (R. 102); Excerpts, Deposition of Michael Whalen, pp. 22-23, 26 (R. 207-208, 211). Affidavit of Mike Whalen In Support of Mike Whalen's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R.47-66) A copy of the Promissory Note is attached as part of Exhibit A to the Affidavit of Michael Whalen. (R.56) Michael Whalen was the agent for the Sellers. Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G. Bistes, Jr., p. 68; (R. 204); Excerpts, Deposition of Michael Whalen, p. 76 (R. 96). Michael Whalen held this Note on behalf of the Sellers thereafter. Affidavit of Mike Whalen In Support of Mike Whalen's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R.47-66).

Michael Whalen contacted Gregory Bistes sometime on or around May 10, 2003 at Boyce Honda regarding the Purchase Agreement. At that time Greg Bistes Jr. told Michael Whalen that there was no contract, no agreement, because he, Greg, did not receive the signed contract or Promissory Note by May 1, 2003. Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G. Bistes, Jr., pp. 54-58; (R. 99-104)

On May 21, 2003 by certified letter, the attorney representing the Purchaser, the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership notified the Sellers that it was ready willing and able to

proceed to closing. The closing was set for June 27, 2003. Affidavit of Mike Whalen in Support of Mike Whalen's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit B. (R.62-63)

Greg Bistes received this letter. Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G. Bistes, Jr., p. 54; (R. 99)

The Sellers did nothing to comply with the letter, did not attend the closing and did not sell the property to the Purchaser. Id.

Greg Bistes testified in his deposition that he felt that there was no contractual agreement between the parties for the sale of the property because he did not receive a copy of the signed Purchase Agreement and the Promissory Note by May 1, 2003. Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G. Bistes, Jr., p. 68; (R. 204)

However, again, Greg Bistes did admit that Michael Whalen was acting as their, the Sellers' agent in this transaction. Michael Whalen received both the signed Purchase Agreement and the Promissory Note from the Purchaser, Bradshaw, on April 30, 2003. Upon his receipt of the Purchase Agreement and the Promissory Note signed by the Purchaser, Bradshaw, on April 30, 2009 a valid and enforceable contract was created between the parties.

The Purchaser tendered performance on June 27, 2003. The Sellers refused to perform.

The Purchaser assigned its rights under the Purchase Agreement to enforcement of the

Agreement to Michael Whalen. Michael Whalen filed his complaint for specific performance
and for breach of contract.

On the motion for summary judgment the Chancellor ruled that delivery of the contract to Mr. Whalen by the sellers, Gregory Bistes and Gay Bistes, Palmisano, was not delivery to the buyers because of Mr. Whalen's undisclosed dual agency; there was no delivery of the signed contract and therefore there was no valid enforceable contract. (R.214)

Michael Whalen would show that delivery occurred at the time Tom Bradshaw signed the Purchase Agreement and gave it to Michael Whalen with the Promissory Note on April 30, 2009. Michael received notice of performance as agent for the Sellers, Gregory Bistes and Gayle Bistes Palmisano on April 30, 2003. Michael Whalen requests the Court reverse the Chancellor's ruling and remand the matter back to the trial court for further proceedings.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. THE CHANCELLOR ERRED WHEN HE RULED THAT DELIVERY OF THE CONTRACT DID NOT OCCUR BECAUSE OF MICHAEL WHALEN'S UNDISCLOSED DUAL AGENCY.

It is not disputed that Gregory Bistes and Gay Bistes Palmisano agreed to sell a parcel of property to Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership by signing the contract titled Agreement to Purchase and Sell on April 25, 2003. It is not disputed that Michael Whalen was acting as agent for the sellers, Greg Bistes and Gay Bistes Palmisano in this sales transaction. The sellers, the defendants, admit that Michael Whalen was acting as their agent for this land sale transaction. It is not disputed that the Sellers, the defendants, delivered the signed Agreement to Purchase and Sell to Michael Whalen on April 25, 2003. The agreement by its terms was to be signed, "accepted," by the Purchasers on or before May 1, 2003. A Promissory Note in the amount of \$5,000.00 was to be delivered to the Sellers on or before May 1, 2003. On April 30, 2003 the Agreement to Purchase and Sell was signed by the Purchaser, The Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership, and delivered to Michael Whalen, agent for the Sellers, along with the required Promissory Note. A valid and enforceable contract existed between the parties, the Bisteses as Sellers and the Partnership and Purchaser, and was not rendered void because of the undisclosed dual agency of Michael Whalen. Failure of Michael Whalen to disclose his dual agency relationship did not render the contract invalid. As assignee of the Agreement, Michael Whalen has the right to enforce performance and seek redress for its breach.

ARGUMENT

THE CHANCELLOR ERRED WHEN HE RULED THAT DELIVERY OF THE CONTRACT DID NOT OCCUR BECAUSE OF MICHAEL WHALEN'S UNDISCLOSED DUAL AGENCY.

This appeal arises out of a Complaint for Specific Performance and Breach of Contract filed by the plaintiff, Michael Whalen, against the defendants, Greg Bistes, Jr., and Gay Bistes Palmisano relating to purchase and sale of a parcel of non-residential real property in Long Beach, Mississippi.

On or about April 25, 2003 Michael Whalen presented a document entitled Agreement to Purchase and Sell to Greg Bistes, Jr. at his office at Boyce Honda in Slidell, Louisiana. On that date, Greg Bistes, Jr. individually and on with full authority on behalf of his sister, Gay Bistes Palmisano signed the Agreement To Purchase and Sell creating and making an offer to sell their property. Greg Bistes was authorized by his sister to make this offer on her behalf. *Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G. Bistes, Jr., pp. 39, 43-45, 52; (R.194,198-200, 201)*.

Under the terms of the written Agreement, an offer was made by the Sellers to the Bradshaw Family Limited Trust as Purchaser, to sell the parcel of property they owned, Lot 29-2 located on Klondyke Road in Long Beach, Mississippi for the sum of \$84,800.00. The terms of acceptance required that upon acceptance by the Purchaser, it would deposit a \$5,000.00 Promissory Note with the Seller (Seller's agent). The Sellers' offer was open to acceptance by the Purchaser until May 1, 2003.

Michael Whalen was acting as the Sellers' agent in this transaction. Greg Bistes, Jr. one of the defendants testified in his deposition that he agreed to pay Michael Whalen an agency fee to be he and his sister's agent in this sales transaction. *Excerpts, Deposition of Christian G.*

Bistes, Jr., pp. 68; (R. 204).

On April 30, 2003 the Purchaser, the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership, accepted the offer made by the Sellers, Greg Bistes, Jr. and Gay Bistes. This acceptance was ratified by Tom Bradshaw's signature on the Agreement to Purchase and Sell dated April 30, 2003 and by the delivery of the Promissory Note of \$ 5,000.00 to Michael Whalen as agent for the Sellers. It is not disputed by the Sellers that the Purchase Agreement was signed by Tom Bradshaw on April 30, 2009. Nor is it disputed that the Promissory Note was tendered as required by the Purchase Agreement to Michael Whalen on April 30, 2009.

The defendants argued in support of their Motion for Summary Judgment that because Michael Whalen, admittedly their agent, did not deliver the signed Purchase Agreement and Promissory Note to Greg Bistes by May 1, 2003, the offer expired and no valid and enforceable contract exited between the parties.

The plaintiff, Michael Whalen admitted in his deposition that he was acting as a dual agent in this transaction, an agent for the Purchaser and as an agent for the Sellers. Michael Whalen conceded that he did not have a dual agency disclosure form executed by the Sellers.

On the defendant's motions for summary judgment, the Court ruled that delivery of the contract did not occur because, "delivery of the contract to Mr. Whalen by the seller was not delivery to the buyers because of Mr. Whalen's undisclosed dual agency." (R.214) The plaintiff, Michael Whalen, respectfully submits that the Chancellor was in error both as to whether a genuine issue existed as to the validity of the contract based on the agency relationship and in ruling as a matter of law that the notice to Michael Whalen, the agent for the Sellers, of acceptance by the Purchaser on April 30, 2003, was not notice to the Sellers, his principals.

A. SUMMARY JUDGMENT

This Court has repeatedly stated that, "[s]ummary judgment is a powerful tool which "should be used wisely and sparingly." *Martin v. Simmons*, 571 So.2d 254, 258 (Miss.1990). It should only be granted when "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact." M.R.C.P. 56(c). When reviewing a decision to grant summary judgment, this Court will review the case de novo. *Crain v. Cleveland Lodge*, 1532, 641 So.2d 1186, 1188 (Miss.1994). All evidentiary matters are viewed in a light most favorable to the non-movant. *Id. Miller v. Shell Oil Co.*, 783 So. 2d 724, 726 (Miss. Ct. App. May 30, 2000 *cert. denied*)

If this Court finds that the evidence favorable to the non-moving party and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom present a genuine issue of fact, the motion should not be granted.

Lane v. A.J.M. Oustalet, 873 So. 2d 92, 95 (Miss. 2004).

B. THE ASSIGNMENT

It is undisputed that the Purchaser, the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership, assigned all of its rights and interest in and to the Agreement to Purchase and Sell related to Lot 29-2 to the plaintiff Michael Whalen. As assignee of the Purchase Agreement Michael Whalen stands in the shoes of the Purchaser under to the Purchase Agreement. *Great Southern Nat'l Bank v. McCullough Environmental Services, Inc.*, 595 So. 2d 1282 (Miss. 1992).

Mississippi law permits an assignment of contractual rights. Board of Trustees of State

Institutions of Higher Learning v. Peoples Bank of Miss., 538 So.2d 361, 366 (Miss. 1989); see

also Merchants & Farmers Bank of Meridian v. McClendon, 220 So.2d 815, 821 (Miss. 1969)

("The general rule is that the right to receive money due or to become due under an existing contract may be assigned.") (citing Restatement of Contracts § 151 (1932)). Assigned contractual

rights may be enforced by the assignee—who essentially "stands in the shoes" of the assignor and who "takes no rights other than those" which the assignor had possessed. *Indian Lumbermen's Mut. Ins. Co. v. Curtis Mathes Manufacturing Co.*, 456 So.2d 750, 755 (Miss.1984); see also International Harvester Co. v. Peoples Bank & Trust Co., 402 So.2d 856, 861 (Miss.1981) ("It has long been held that a valid assignment of a debt or contract conveys the entire interest of the assignor to the assignee, and thereafter the assignor has no interest therein."); 6A C.J.S.

Assignments § 73, at 710-12 ("As a general rule, a valid and unqualified assignment operates to transfer to the assignee all the right, title, or interest of the assignor in the thing assigned, but not to confer upon the assignee any greater right or interest than that possessed by the assignor.")

Great Southern Nat'l Bank v. McCullough Environmental Services, Inc., 595 So. 2d 1282, 1287 (Miss. 1992).

Michael Whalen as assignee of the Purchase Agreement, upon the assignment gained all the rights that the Purchaser, Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership acquired in the Purchase Agreement at its acceptance on April 30, 2003 by Tom Bradshaw, including the right to enforce its performance and seek relief for its breach.

C. THE SIGNED AND ACCEPTED PURCHASE AGREEMENT WAS DELIVERED TO THE SELLERS

Michael Whalen would respectfully show that it is not disputed that the offer made by Greg Bistes and Gay Bistes Palmisano on April 25, 2003 by their signatures to the Agreement to Purchase and Sell was accepted by the Purchaser on April 30, 2003 within the time frame of the offer.

The issue made by the Sellers is that the Purchase Agreement was not delivered to Greg Bistes by May 1, 2003 the deadline for the offer to be open, ; That is was sometime after May 1,

2003, on or about May 10, 2003 that he was advised by his agent Michael Whalen, of the acceptance of the offer within the terms and time frame of their offer contained in the Purchase Agreement. The Sellers' argument is that despite the acceptance of their offer within the terms of their offer, by May 1, 2003, that the acceptance was not communicated to them by Michael Whalen and thus the contract was not accepted by May 1, 2003. This argument is contrary to the law of agency.

Again the parties to this litigation all agree that Michael Whalen was acting as an agent for the Sellers. He was also acting as an agent for the Purchasers, in a dual agency capacity, but nonetheless he was an agent for the Sellers, Greg Bistes and Gay Bistes Palmisano, with respect to the Purchase Agreement.

Under the law of agency, knowledge acquired by an agent when transacting his principal's business is be imputed to his principal even though it is not communicated to the principal, in the absence of a limitation on the agent's authority to the contrary, known to the person with whom the agent deals. *Pittman v. Home Indemnity Co.*, 411 So. 2d 87, 89 (Miss. 1982) *citing* 165 Miss. at 796, 144 So. at 863. *Lane v. A.J.M. Oustalet*, 873 So. 2d 92 (Miss. 2004).

In the case of Lane v. A.J.M. Oustalet, this Court was asked to make an exception to the above stated rule of imputed knowledge in cases where as here, the agent is acts in a dual capacity for two principals. Lane v. A.J.M. Oustalet, 873 So. 2d at 96.

This Court considered the purpose of the imputed knowledge rule in the context of business practices and reviewed various opinions from other jurisdictions in connection with its decision that it would not establish a bright line for all cases as to whether knowledge held by a dual agent is to be imputed to either or both principals, leaving that question as a question of fact

for trier of fact. Id at 97.

In *Lane* the Court realized as in the present case, that in a dual agency situation two distinct agencies are vested in the agent with separate duties and responsibilities as to each principal. *Id.* In the present case, as to the Sellers, Mike Whalen's duties were to present their offer, the Agreement to Purchase and Sell as made by them to the Purchaser within the time frame of their offer. It is undisputed that Michael Whalen did this. The Purchaser accepted the offer of the Sellers as evidenced by the signature and delivery of the Promissory Note in the amount of \$5,000.00 to Michael Whalen, Sellers agent, on April 30, 2003. Additionally Michael Whalen, was under a duty to notify the Sellers of the acceptance of their offer, not under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, but merely in a reasonable manner consistent with his duties as the Sellers' agent. It is undisputed that he also notified the Sellers of the Purchaser's acceptance.

The fact that notice of Purchasers acceptance was not given by Michael Whalen until after May 1, 2003 has no effect upon the validity of the acceptance.

Further, the Sellers had full knowledge of the Purchaser's acceptance. This knowledge was imputed to them through their agent, Michael Whalen's, knowledge, on April 30, 2003 when acceptance occurred.

Pursuant to the foregoing, at the very least, the Chancellor should have denied the Seller's Motion for Summary Judgment in favor of developing the issue of whether Michael Whalen's notice the acceptance of the offer to his principals was timely and reasonable under the circumstances.

D. MICHAEL WHALEN'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE THE AGENCY RELATIONSHIP DOES NOT ABROGATE THE COMMON LAW OF AGENCY

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