IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00660

MICHAEL WHALEN

APPELLANT

APPELLEES

V.

GREGORY BISTES, JR. AND GAY BISTES PALMISANO

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

On appeal from the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, First District

Edward O. Miller (MSB

ATTORNEY OF RECORD FOR APPELLEES **MILLER & SMITH** 1922 23rd Avenue Gulfport, Mississippi 39501 Telephone (228) 864-2515 Facsimile (228) 868-7702

HOLLIE MILLER (MSE

ATTORNEY ON BRIEF 1739 University Avenue, #230 Oxford, Mississippi 38655 Telephone (662) 816-1003 Facsimile (662) 915-7617

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00660

MICHAEL WHALEN

APPELLANT

V.

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant Whalen acted unlawfully and fraudulently by engaging in and acting in the capacity of a real estate agent within this state when he did not have an active license to do so, and, in this suit, Appellant is trying to profit from his misconduct. The Chancellor correctly found that no contract existed where the unlicensed Appellant attempted to broker a real estate deal for sale of Appellees' property. Appellee did not have the parties sign a dual agency disclosure form as required in Mississippi, the alleged contract does not state who Appellant represents in the deal as is also required in Mississippi, and the Appellant does not dispute that he did not follow the laws of real estate in Mississippi during this attempted transaction.

The offer was signed by Appellee Greg Bistes on April 25, 2003, but the offer expired on its face on May 1, 2003. There is no dispute that a promissory note and signed contract were not physically given to the Appellees by the offer's expiration. Appellant asks this Court to find that there is a contract anyway because he alleges that the buyers deposited the contract and note with him before the offer's expiration, and since he is the Appellees' agent, delivery to him is imputed to Appellees.

Appellant would like for the Court to ignore the fact that he acted illegally, fraudulently, and with unclean hands when he secured the offer from Appellee Greg Bistes. All of a sudden, the alleged "real estate agent" who approached Appellee Greg Bistes is now the purchaser. He is wearing two hats. He claims to be Appellees' agent, but now he is suing his alleged principals and has tied up their property since 2003. Appellant asks the Court to give him the benefits of being an agent under the common law without requiring him to uphold the fiduciary duties that common law agency involves. There simply was never a contract to sale Appellees' property for the following reasons:

- 1. The contract would be illegal and in violation of the real estate laws and regulations of Mississippi;
- 2. The offer was secured by Appellant through illegality, fraud, and unclean hands;
- 3. The offer was not accepted by its expiration date of May 1, 2003;
- 4. The Appellees' received no \$5,000.00 promissory note before the offer expired; and
- Appellant's alleged assignment contradicts any argument that he was an agent of Appellees.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Chancellor correctly determined that the Appellant Acting Illegally, Came to Court with Unclean Hands, and is Not Entitled to Relief.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized the maxim that "[n]o Court will lend its aid to a man who founds his cause of action upon an immoral or an illegal act." *Morrissey v. Bologna*, 240 Miss. 284, 300-01, 123 So.2d 537, 545 (1960). Nearly a century ago, this Court laid out the rule in Mississippi: "If a plaintiff cannot open his case without showing that he has broken the law, a court will not aid him. . . . The principle of public policy is that no court will lend its aid to a party who grounds his action upon an immoral or illegal act." *Western Union Telegraph Co. v. McLaurin*, 66 So. 739, 740 (1914). This rule in Mississippi encompasses contract cases as well, preventing relief on a claim based on a contract that is illegal or against our state's public policy. *Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So.2d 479, 484 -485 (Miss. 2006).

Appellant Whalen is barred from any relief from this Court because he is seeking relief on an alleged contract grounded upon his illegal acts and fraud. Appellant Whalen posed in the capacity of a realtor within this State without having an active license to do so and attempted to broker a real estate deal between Appellees and Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership and to recover a six percent commission. *Deposition of Whalen*, R. at 86. When the deal fell through because the offer was not accepted before it expired, Appellant Whalen took an alleged assignment of the purchaser's rights and sued for specific performance and breach of contract. So, the Appellant, who began the transaction alleging to be the real estate agent for both the buyer and seller, is now the purchaser and is suing who he alleges to be his own principals, Appellees.

It is undisputed that Appellant Whalen's license was inactive when he approached Appellee Greg Bistes on April 25, 2003 about the potential sale of the property. The Administrator of the

Mississippi Real Estate Commission, Robert E. Praytor, testified that Appellant Whalen was placed on "inactive status" from "March 21, 2002 until May 20, 2008." *Affidavit of Robert E. Praytor*, R. at 105-06.

Mississippi Code Ann. § 73-35-1 clearly states:

[I]t shall be unlawful for any person, partnership, association or corporation to engage in or carry on directly or indirectly, or to advertise or to hold himself, itself or themselves out as engaging in or carrying on the business, or act in the capacity of, real estate broker, or a real estate salesperson, within this state, without first obtaining a license as a real estate broker or real estate salesperson as provided for in this chapter.

Because Appellant Whalen was acting unlawfully when he posed as a licensed real estate agent during his dealings with Appellees, Appellant Whalen cannot maintain this suit to profit from his illegal and fraudulent activity. Miss. Code Ann. § 73-35-33 states:

> (1) No person, partnership, association or corporation shall bring or maintain any action in any court of this state for the recovery of a commission, fee or compensation for any act done or services rendered, the doing or rendering of which is prohibited under the provision of this chapter for persons other than licensed real estate brokers, unless such person was duly licensed hereunder as a real estate broker at the time of the doing of such act or the rendering of such service.

Based on Sections 73-35-1 and 73-35-33 alone, Appellant's case should be thrown out of

court. Appellant was acting unlawfully by posing as a realtor, and he is statutorily prohibited from maintaining an action in court. It is telling that Appellant only once in his lengthy brief mentions the glaring and undisputed fact that he was not licensed to practice as a real estate agent when he attempted to broker the sale of Appellees' property. *Appellant's Brief*, p. 3. Posing as a licensed real estate agent to Appellee Greg Bistes was both fraudulent and illegal, but Appellant posits that his fraudulent and illegal acts should have no bearing on the issue of whether or not there is a contract. Tellingly, Appellant **cites no case law** to substantiate this argument because there is no

such law. The law of this State is that "if a plaintiff requires essential aid from an illegal transaction to establish his case, he has no case." *Capps v. Postal Telegraph-Cable Co.*, 19 So.2d 491, 493 (Miss. 1944). Even assuming that there was a contract – which Appellees' wholeheartedly deny — the contract would have been voided and nullified by Appellant's fraud and illegality in securing the offer. *See Lutz Homes, Inc. v. Weston*, 19 So.3d 60, 62 (Miss. 2009). The Appellant's case must fail because Appellant **nowhere** in his brief addresses why he should not be barred from recovery by the doctrine of unclean hands. This doctrine bars the Appellant's recovery, and Appellant's appeal should be denied.

"The doctrine of unclean hands provides that 'he who comes into equity must come with clean hands.' "*Pruitt v. Payne*, 14 So.3d 806, 812 (Miss.App. 2009). "[N]o person as a complaining party can have the aid of a court of equity when his conduct with respect to the transaction in question has been characterized by wilful inequity.... In sum, 'whenever a party seeks to employ the judicial machinery in order to obtain some remedy and that party has violated good faith or some other equitable principle, 'the doors of the court will be shut against him' and 'the court will refuse to interfere on his behalf, to acknowledge his right, or to award him any remedy." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). "The doctrine of unclean hands prevents one, who comes into court with unclean hands, from asserting claims and affirmative defenses." *Id.*

At the summary judgment hearing, the Chancellor correctly found:

Mr. Whalen was not permitted under the laws of Mississippi to do what he did here. The fact that he's – he was inactive is in effect the same as being without license. Mr. Whalen now comes into court seeking equity in the form of a complaint for specific performance, and the Court finds he's in court without clean hand – with unclean hands. He participated in this transaction, provided for a commission, represented both parties without disclosing that to both parties at least initially and now is in the position of the buyer by virtue of some form of an assignment. And the Court finds that under the long established equitable doctrine of coming into court seeking

equity with unclean hands he meets that test, and the Court will not grant him equity and therefore enters judgment in favor of the defendants."

Transcript of Summary Judgment Hearing, pg. 55. Illegality, fraud, and the "clean hands doctrine" prevents Appellant Whalen from obtaining equitable relief when he is guilty of willful misconduct in the transaction at issue. *Farrior v. Kittrell*, 12 So.3d 20 (Miss.App. 2009).

B. The Chancellor Correctly Determined That There Was No Contract Because of Appellant's Undisclosed Dual Agency

The Chancellor ruled that "delivery of the contract to Mr. Whalen by the seller was not delivery to the buyers because of Mr. Whalen's undisclosed dual agency." *Letter of Chancellor Persons*, R. at 214; *Order*, R. at 216.

The fact of the matter is that — even aside from the fact that the offer was secured unlawfully, fraudulently, and with unclean hands — the Appellee Greg Bistes's April 25, 2003, offer to sell the property to Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership expired on May 1, 2003, and Bistes was not delivered a signed contract and promissory note prior to expiration. Appellee Greg Bistes did not hear back from the proposed buyer or Appellant Whalen until May 10, 2003 when Whalen approached Bistes at his business. Appellee Greg Bistes then told him that the offer to sell had expired, and the deal was off.

It is fundamental that a contract is formed only upon acceptance of an offer. *Couret v. Conner*, 79 So. 230, 232 (1918). Just as basic is the principle that an offeror is free to limit acceptance to a fixed time period. *Houston Dairy, Inc. v. John Hancock Mut. Life Ins. Co.*, 643 F.2d 1185, 1187 -1188 (5th Cir. 1981) (citing 1 A Corbin, Contracts s 35 (1963); 1 S. Williston, Contracts s 76 (3d ed. W. Jaege, 1957); Restatement of Contracts s 40 (1932)). Once the time period has expired, a belated attempt to accept is ineffective. *Id.*

Appellant Whalen does not dispute that a signed contract and \$5,000.00 promissory note was

not given to Appellee Greg Bistes by the contract deadline of May 1, 2003. *Deposition of Whalen*, R. at 210-12. Instead, Appellant claims that the Bradshaw Family Limited Partnership delivered the contract and note to Appellant Whalen by the deadline, and delivery was imputed to the Appellees.

Appellant's entire argument relies on his allegation that he was an agent of the Appellees (even though it was illegal for him to act as a real estate agent), and since the contract and promissory note were delivered to him by the contract deadline – the only proof of that allegation being the Appellant's own testimony — the Appellees, as his principals, are presumed to have received the contract and note. *Appellant's Brief*, pg. 4-6. Appellant Whalen testified as follows at his deposition:

- Q: Are you testifying that the seller received a copy of the promissory note b y May 1st?
- A: Whether no, he didn't receive I was told that as the broker, the way that's the way that I read it.
- Q: And you prepared it?
- A: Uh-huh, yes.
- Q: You prepared the agreement, so that's the way you read it as the one having prepared it?
- A: Uh-huh (indicating yes.)
- Q: Did you ever question him as to whether or not what his interpretation of that was?
- A: Nor did he bring it to my attention.
- Q: Well, if you never if he never saw it, it'd be kind of hard to do, wouldn't it?
- A: As his agent, I just assumed he was trusting that I got a promissory note from Mr. Bradshaw by the 1st of May, which I did.
- Q: Oh, okay. But you didn't give him a copy of it; you just held it?
- A: For about the fourth time, it says that it'd be held with the seller's agent.

Deposition of Whalen, R. at 210-212.

Interestingly enough, Appellant's position that he was the agent of the Appellees at the time of the alleged transaction was not Appellant's initial position in this litigation. Appellant filed requests for admissions in this matter on April 10, 2006, where he stated:

REQUEST NO. 9. By way of Request for Admission, admit that you were acting as the agent for the buyers only.

RESPONSE: Admitted. However an assignment was made to me thereafter.

Whalen's Responses to Request for Admissions, R. at 29. Yet, at the time of his deposition over two

years later on April 16, 2008, Appellant had altered his position that he was the agent of the

Appellees:

- Q: Who were you representing in this transaction?
- A: I guess I was representing the seller.
- Q: You guess?
- A: As far as I was concerned.
- Q: Did you not bring the contract to him from Bradshaw?

A: Did I bring – no. Bradshaw was out of town.

- Q: But you brought it on Bradshaw's behalf?
- A: Yeah. Yes.
-
- Q: Okay. So I asked you the question just a minute ago about who you were representing in this transaction, and you said you guess it was who?
- A: Well, I was representing both people.
- Q: So you were acting in a dual capacity --
- A: Uh-huh (indicating yes.)
- • •
- Q: Did you have them sign a dual agency agreement?
- A: No, I didn't.

Deposition of Whalen, R. at 87-88.

Mississippi Code Sections 73-35-1 et seq., charges the Mississippi Real Estate Commission

(MREC) with enforcement and supervisory authority for licensing real estate agents and brokers.

The regulations of the MREC provide the following definition of "agency":

(a) "Agency shall mean the relationship created when one person, the Principal (client), delegates to another, the agent, the right to act on his behalf in a real estate transaction and to exercise some degree of discretion while so acting. Agency may be entered into by expressed agreement, implied through the actions of the agent and or ratified after the fact by the principal accepting the benefits of an agent's previously unauthorized act. An agency gives rise to a fiduciary relationship and imposes on the agent, as the fiduciary of principal, certain duties, obligations, and high standards of good faith and loyalty.

MREC Regulations, R. at 142 (emphasis added). The MREC's regulations further provide:

Disclosure Requirements:

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